# **RECEIVED**

05-29-2012

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT I

\_\_\_\_\_

No. 2011AP1803-CR

\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

GENERAL GRANT WILSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

\_\_\_\_\_

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Milwaukee County, The Honorable Victor Manian and The Honorable Jeffrey A. Conen, Presiding, Circuit Court Case No. 1993 CF 931541

\_\_\_\_\_

## BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT GENERAL GRANT WILSON

Anne Berleman Kearney State Bar No. 1031085 APPELLATE CONSULTING GROUP Post Office Box 2145 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53201 (414) 332-0966

# **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in denying Mr. Wilson the defense provided in *State v. Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d 614, 357 N.W.2d 12 (1984), where there was a substantial showing of motive, opportunity, and proximity of third persons to the crime at issue, and the court could not give a clear reason for its denial of the defense.

Answer by the circuit court: "no."

2. Whether the State should have been permitted to offer collateral impeachment hearsay evidence against Mr. Wilson, so that witnesses attributed to him the ownership of a gun and disclosed to the jury highly prejudicial acts Of domestic disturbance, even while foreclosing Mr. Wilson from submitting witness testimony critical to his defense.

Answer by the circuit court: "no."

3. Whether Mr. Wilson's trial counsel provided effective assistance where counsel failed to make necessary offers of proof (known witness testimony) as to elements of the third-person defense under *Denny*, 120 Wis. 2d at 624, 357 N.W.2d at 17, and failed to object properly to the introduction of prejudicial character evidence against Mr. Wilson, and additionally, whether the circuit court erred in denying a post-conviction hearing crucial for Mr. Wilson to question counsel's effectiveness.

Answer by the circuit: "no" (without reaching the additional issue).

#### STATEMENT CONCERNING ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is warranted given the nature of the errors involved and the severity of the sentence. Defendant-appellant takes no position on publication.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This direct appeal of General G. Wilson arises from his being denied a basic right: the opportunity to provide a full and fair defense in a criminal trial. Mr. Wilson was entitled to present fully all his defenses—including, significantly, his defense that third persons (viz., Willie Friend and Larnell Friend) had the motive, opportunity, and proximity to the crime—particularly under these circumstances, which the District Attorney termed a "close call." R.58:4; D-App. 252. The court also permitted the State to offer collateral impeachment hearsay evidence, highly prejudicial to Mr. Wilson.

In the early morning of April 21, 1993, Evania Maric was killed in a shooting. R.53:38. Willie Friend was there at the time. R:51:34. In fact, the shooting took place outside an illegal after-hours club owned by Willie Friend's brother, Larnell ("Jabo") Friend. R.51:31-33. Witness testimony, which Mr. Wilson sought to offer as proof in his defense, revealed that Willie Friend (who was in an intimate relationship with Ms. Maric, R.51:19) had threatened and hit Ms. Maric not more than two weeks before her death. R.56:15-17; D-App. 198-200.

Willie Friend turned the police towards Mr. Wilson. Friend told the police that Mr. Wilson had committed the shooting. R.51:140. The police went out and found Mr. Wilson at his job. R.51:175-176. Mr. Wilson was an eighteen-year veteran of the Army Reserves and a sixteen-year, full-time employee and union steward at Krause Milling (ADM). R.55:33,102. Mr. Wilson was a longtime friend of Ms. Maric. R.55:4. The police arrested Mr. Wilson, and he was charged with first-degree intentional homicide while using a dangerous weapon, as well as with attempted intentional homicide of Willie Friend while using a dangerous weapon. R.2:1; 4; 55:38. Mr. Wilson entered a plea of not guilty. R.44: 2.

During the State's case, which included testimony by Willie Friend, Mr. Wilson sought to examine the State's witnesses about third persons who had motive, opportunity, and proximity to the crime. The circuit court prohibited the defense. *See, e.g.,* R.51:76-77, 92-94; 53:231-234. The defense moved for dismissal of the case at the close of the State's evidence; the court denied the motion. R.53:120.

Counsel for Mr. Wilson presented his defense, but the circuit court continued to foreclose any questioning of witnesses regarding a third person connected with the crime. R. 56:13-24; D-App. 196-207. Counsel for Mr. Wilson moved for a mistrial challenging the State's offering of collateral impeachment evidence, which the court took under advisement. R.55:116; D-App. 184. Ultimately, the court rejected Mr. Wilson's

proffered jury instructions regarding the third-person defense. R.12:1-3; 58:5-25; D-App. 101-103. Mr. Wilson's motions for a mistrial were denied. R.58:4-6, 149-153; D-App. 253-259. The case went to the jury. R.58:148.

On July 7, 1993, the jury informed the court that it had reached an impasse. R.58:154-156. The court sent the jury home for the night. R.58:160. Later the next day, the jury found Mr. Wilson guilty of both charges. R.13, 14; 60:2-3. The circuit court denied Mr. Wilson's motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict, R.60:8, and, on October 4, 1993, entered a judgment of conviction. R.19; D-App. 105.

That same day, the circuit court sentenced Mr. Wilson to life imprisonment with a potential for eligibility for parole in 30 years from the date of sentencing, as well as a consecutive sentence of an indeterminate term not to exceed 20 years for attempted first-degree intentional homicide. R.1:14-15; 19; 61:46-54; D-App.264-274.

Mr. Wilson's trial counsel, Peter J. Kovac, filed a notice to pursue post-conviction relief. R.20. Mr. Kovac did not file anything on Mr. Wilson's behalf for over two years, and then the filing consisted only of two pages. R.22. In June 1996, he filed a nine-page motion for a new trial and sentence modification. R.23. The circuit court denied the motion. R.24; D-App.106-108. Mr. Kovac did not file additional post-conviction motions. Mr. Kovac did not file a notice of appeal for Mr. Wilson. On April 21, 2008,

Mr. Kovac was publicly reprimanded over his misconduct in this case. *See* Public Reprimand of Peter J. Kovac, 2008-OLR-05.

On September 14, 2010, this Court granted Mr. Wilson's petition for habeas corpus, in which Mr. Wilson argued that Mr. Kovac had rendered ineffective assistance of counsel. R.1:19; 25; D-App. 109-110. As relief, this Court reinstated Mr. Wilson's right to pursue direct post-conviction and appellate relief under Wis. Stat. § 809.30. R.25:3, D-App. 110.

On January 21, 2011, Mr. Wilson, by appointed counsel, filed a motion for post-conviction relief. R.27; D-App. 111-134. On July 14, 2011, the circuit court denied Mr. Wilson's motion for post-conviction relief, without a hearing. R.39; D-App. 151-154. This appeal followed. R.40.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Evania Maric was killed between 5:00 and 5:10 a.m. on April 21, 1993. R.53:38. Willie Friend was with her at the time. R.51: 33-34. He and Ms. Maric were outside an illegal nightclub, owned by his brother, Larnell (Jabo) Friend. R.51:31-33. Willie Friend testified that he had been involved in a relationship with Ms. Maric since 1992. R.51:19. Ms. Maric's acquaintance with Jabo went farther back. R.51:93; 55:6.

### Willie Friend's Nighttime Activities with Ms. Maric

A primary witness for the prosecution was Willie Friend, the man with whom Ms. Maric was in an "intimate relationship" at the time of the shooting. R.51:19. Willie Friend had multiple convictions on his record.

R.51:242. Friend testified that he spent the early evening of April 20 with Ms. Maric, dropped her at home, and picked her up again at 11 p.m. R.51:19-20. They left Ms. Maric's house in South Milwaukee and went to the north side. R.51:22. In Friend's characterization, "[w]e was just out." *Id.* They went to a tavern for an hour or two for a few drinks and left. *Id.* While Mr. Friend and Ms. Maric were driving around on Center Street, Ms. Maric pointed out a car. Tr.51:22-23. She called the car "General's car." R.51:23. She indicated "a gold Lincoln with that design license plates." *Id.* No one was in the car. *Id.* 

Mr. Friend and Ms. Maric stopped for chicken and sat outside his mother's house on 9th and King Drive in Milwaukee. R.51:25. While there, Willie Friend testified he thought he saw the "General c[o]me around the bend" in a car with a female. R.51:26, 60. He made that observation based on seeing the "car first," R.51:50, which Willie Friend testified was a "gold Lincoln" like the one he had seen on Center Street. R.51:27. Mr. Wilson, who was out that night with a friend, testified that his destinations took him on and off the highway ramp near that area. R.55:23-30.

Ms. Maric left the home of Mr. Friend's mother sometime before 2 a.m. R.51:30. Mr. Friend then walked towards his brother's house at 9th and Concordia. R.51:31. Willie Friend's brother, Larnell Friend, operated an illegal after-hours club there. R.51:31-32, 46. Willie Friend had been at

his brother's club in the late evening hours before and so had Ms. Maric. R.51:31-32, 93.

That evening Willie Friend and Ms. Maric ended up together at the after-hours club. R.51:32. Ms. Maric came to the after-hours club, where they stayed for some three or more hours. R.51:32-33, 56. Ms. Maric prepared to leave around 4:30 a.m. because she had to go to work as a crossing guard and as a security person. R.51:33.

Willie Friend walked out with Ms. Maric to her car, parked about fifteen to twenty feet from his brother's club, and they sat talking in the car for some time, while it was running. Tr.51:34, 57. At some point, according to Friend, a car pulled up alongside Ms. Maric's car. R.51:34.

Willie Friend explained that a "medium" man with gold-rim glasses got out of the car. R.51:38, 61. Friend testified that the individual walked over with a gun to the passenger side of Ms. Maric's car. R.51:38. Mr. Friend stated that the individual "looked at me, and he just started shooting." R.51:39. Mr. Friend testified that he did not "know if he shot in the car first or he shot over the car." R.51:40. He testified that the gunman was left-handed. R.51:67-68.

Friend ran away. R.51:40. He ran past a house, through a gangway, and came around the alley back to the car. R.51:41. He heard shots from a "smaller gun" and a door slam, and saw a car pass. R.51:42-43. Willie Friend was not shot. R.51:41.

Willie Friend testified that he went to Jabo's house. R.51:45. Only after, did Willie Friend arrive at the front door of a neighbor, Mrs. Carol Kidd Edwards, and tell her to call 911, which she did. R.51:109.

#### Carol Edwards's Testimony About the Shooting and Two Men

Ms. Carol Kidd Edwards, who lived in a house across the street from the house operated by Jabo Friend, testified that she heard five loud gunshots early in the morning, around 5 a.m. R.51:96-98, 109. After hearing the first shot, she threw herself to the ground without looking outside. R.51:97.

After the five shots had ended, Ms. Edwards got off the floor and looked out the window. R.51:97. At that time, she "saw a man with a brown leather jacket on running away from a car parked across the street from my house." *Id.* Ms. Edwards identified the man as Willie Friend. R.51:98.

Ms. Edwards testified that she "first saw him [Willie Friend], here, right in the vicinity of the car." R.51:100. She explained that Willie Friend was "running from the car." R.51:97. She elaborated that he was "almost sideways running." R.51:115. He was running between the houses. R.51:97. According to Ms. Edwards, "he was running from this vehicle." R.51:100.

Of the cars parked across the street from Ms. Edwards (besides the car with Ms. Maric), another car located there was a "gold-toned"

Continental." R.51:101. Ms. Edwards could not remember if the plate was a specialty or a regular plate. R.51:128-130. She could not identify the plate. R.51:124-125.

Ms. Edwards testified that "as I observed Willie running from the car [with Ms. Maric] across the street, I also saw a man coming from my blind side, which is the passenger side of [another] car... and then approach the car across the street [with Ms. Maric] where the car was still running." R.51:103. Ms. Edwards saw a gun in the man's hand. R.51:103. She testified that this was a slightly built man, about 6 feet tall, wearing a leather jacket. R.51:123. Ms. Edwards testified that she "couldn't recognize him if [she] saw him today." R.51:107-108.

Ms. Edwards saw the man approach the driver's side of the running car with Ms. Maric and shoot into the driver's side of the car. R.51:104. The shooter was about two feet from the car when he was firing the shots. *Id.* These shots were not as loud as the first shots she heard. R.51:119. She knew that "there were two different guns." *Id.* 

Ms. Edwards said that the man returned to the other car. R.51:106. The man walked in front of the car to the passenger side, outside of her view. R.51:102, 106, 120. She heard a door shut, and the car pull away. R.51:106.

The police received a call about the shooting at 5:16 a.m. R.51:136. The police found Willie Friend by Ms. Maric's car. R.51:46. No other car

was there. R.51:44. Ms. Maric had been shot and was lying on the seat facing the passenger side. *Id.* 

Willie Friend told the police that it was Mr. Wilson who had shot Ms. Maric. R.51:46-47, 140. According to Mr. Friend, while he and Ms. Maric were in her car, "Mr. Wilson come down the hill, come past the stop sign, pulled up beside us." R.51:34. Mr. Friend testified that he came to the conclusion that it was Mr. Wilson's car because he saw the "color, fresh paint job, clean car." R.51:36. He stated that, in the reflection of the light, it was "the color in the car that I had saw earlier." R.51:37. He also stated the car had a specialty plate. R.51:47. Mr. Friend was the only witness who gave testimony about a specialty license plate linked to the car. R.51:47, 128-130. He also explained that "I gave them information where this gentleman supposed to have lived, but I never did find the house." R.51:47.

Ms. Carol Edwards could not identify the shooter. R.51:107-108. Willie Friend identified Mr. Wilson in a line up. R.51:48. However, Willie Friend admitted at the preliminary hearing that he told his mother in a phone call from the courthouse that he "had to get his story together" about what happened that night. R.43:42-43; 51:88-89.

Bullets from a .44 magnum and a .25 caliber semi-automatic pistol were recovered from Ms. Maric's body. R.53:50-51, 71-72. The state technician testified that the "large caliber type holes . . . indicated a very close contact shot." R.53:77. The technician testified that "[i]t would be

right in contact or the muzzle being held up at the surface of the clothes or back slightly, possibly three inches, no more than three inches back from the muzzle to the garment itself. . . . It was pressed up into the clothes." *Id.* The medical examiner testified that the larger-caliber bullets had come before the smaller-caliber bullets. R.53:113. According to the medical examiner, at least one of the larger-caliber bullets could have killed Ms. Maric. R.53:117-118.

#### Mr. Wilson's Defense

Mr. Wilson took the stand. R.55:3. He testified that he was not at the after-hours club and, indeed, had never been there. R.55:7. Mr. Wilson testified he came home from work around 3:00 p.m. on April 20, 1993, to fill out his tax forms. R.55:16. Afterwards, he called a friend, Terry Bethly. R.55:16. Terry Bethly testified that Mr. Wilson arrived at her house at 6 p.m. R.53:9. Mr. Wilson testified that they "got together and had a drink or two and went to a shopping mall on the east side, went, and filed my taxes." R.55:17. Ms. Bethly testified that around 8:30 or 9 p.m. they went to Mr. Wilson's house. R.53:10. Ms. Bethly made a call to set up a meeting with another friend. *Id.* They left Mr. Wilson's house and, Ms. Bethly testified, he drove her back to her house. R.53:11; 55:17.

After Mr. Wilson dropped off Ms. Bethly, he went back to his house and made a few phone calls, including one to Rosanne Potrikus, at her place of work. R.55:17,19. These calls are reflected in the telephone

company records. R.55:19. Ms. Potrikus was a bartender at Throttle Twisters on Center Street. R.53:154. Around 10 p.m., Mr. Wilson went to Twisters to see Ms. Potrikus. R.55:20. Ms. Potrikus explained (as did Mr. Wilson) that Mr. Wilson visited with her while she closed down the bar. R.53:156; 55:20. Mr. Wilson's unoccupied car was on Center outside Twisters (where Ms. Maric pointed it out to Willie Friend, R.51:23) while she and Mr. Wilson were inside the bar. R.53:153-154; 55:20-21.

Once Ms. Potrikus closed down the bar, she and Mr. Wilson headed to another bar owned by a friend. R.55:21-22. But that bar was closed, and they decided to get chicken somewhere on Capitol Drive. R.53:158; 55:23-25. In the course of buying chicken and heading to their next destination, Ms. Potrikus and Mr. Wilson drove on and off the freeway a couple of times using ramps near Capitol, and they ultimately ended up at Brown's Lounge, a bar located on Green Bay, which also was closed. R.55:24-29.

Mr. Wilson drove Ms. Potrikus back to her car at Twisters. R.53:161; 55:30. Ms. Potrikus got into her car, and they drove away in separate cars, with Mr. Wilson following her until she reached her exit. R.55:30-33. Mr. Wilson went to his house at 74th and Carmen and arrived around 3:30 or 4 a.m. R.55:31-32, 104.

Mr. Wilson testified that he woke up around 5:15 a.m. and called Ms. Potrikus, as she had asked him for a wake-up call. R.55:32. Ms. Potrikus testified that Mr. Wilson called her around 5:30 a.m. to wake her up for

work. R.53:163. The phone records from Mr. Wilson's house confirmed the telephone call was made at 5:33:53. R.53:145.

Mr. Wilson started his shift at Krause Milling (ADM) at 7 a.m. R.55:33. Mr. Wilson was a senior miller for the production department and a union steward. *Id.* Somewhere after 7:20 a.m., police officers arrived at Krause. R.51:175. They stopped at Mr. Wilson's car, which was close enough to the street that the officers could see it as they drove by. R.51:176, 184. Mr. Wilson testified that he saw a police officer looking at his car. R.55:36. He approached an officer stationed in the lunch room to see what was happening. *Id.* The officer took Mr. Wilson to the plant manager's office, where he was taken into custody. R.51:202-203. Mr. Wilson recognized one of the police officers as a fellow drill sergeant from the Army Reserves. R.55:37. The police officers told Mr. Wilson that they "were investigating a shooting." R.51:177.

Mr. Wilson cooperated with all the officers' requests. R.51:188. He permitted the officers to look into his two work lockers. R.51:179. Mr. Wilson consented to the search of his car. R.51:180. He consented to a search of his house. R.51:181. En route to his house, Mr. Wilson heard from the police radio "information about a shooting on 9th Street." R.55:44. The officers recovered a gun from Mr. Wilson's car and some guns from his house. R.51:180-182.

Mr. Wilson told the officers "about all the guns [he] had at that time." R.55:54. Sometime later, about two days into his being held in custody, Mr. Wilson was asked about a .44 caliber gun that he had taken to a firing range with Ms. Bethly on April 3. R.55:54, 57. Mr. Wilson told the police that he "didn't own a .44." R.55:54. For, although he had owned a .44, he had taken it with him for protection while on vacation to Florida during the weeks preceding the shooting, and had ended up bartering the .44 caliber to a man in Alabama for drugs and girls, because he did not have enough money. R.55:57-60.

When he was being booked, Mr. Wilson overheard that he was being held for the charge of homicide and thereby learned that someone was dead. R.55:209. Officer Raspberry stated that he thought Mr. Wilson said "'she's dead? You guys didn't tell me she was dead." R.51:209. Mr. Wilson testified that he asked the officers whether someone died. R.55:49. He knew that the shooting was on 9th Street. R.55:50. Mr. Wilson and the police officer both agree that this is the first time that Mr. Wilson realized that he was being arrested for a murder. R.51:216; 55:50. Later that day, the officers told Mr. Wilson that he was being charged with the homicide of Evania Maric. R.55:51.

In his defense, Mr. Wilson introduced facts in response to those contained in the testimony of Willie Friend. Witnesses testified that he has never worn gold-rim glasses. R.53:8, 124, 128, 139-140. Colleagues in the

Army Reserves testified that Mr. Wilson shoots right-handed, not lefthanded, which his military records confirmed. R.53:139; 54:39, 42-44. Mr. Wilson also testified that he shoots right-handed. R.55:107. Evidence was introduced that there are a number (at least four) of gold-colored Lincoln cars registered in Milwaukee County area near the shooting. R.53:175-181.

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