## RECEIVED

10-18-2012

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** COURT OF APPEAL OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2011AP1803-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GENERAL GRANT WILSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE VICTOR MANIAN PRESIDING, AND FROM AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE SAME COURT, THE HONORABLE JEFFREY A. CONEN PRESIDING

### BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General MARGUERITE M. MOELLER **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1017389

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

Wilson's assertion that the police report "stated that Ms. Maric had *recently* left the prostitution business" (Wilson's brief at 23; emphasis added) is therefore false. Nothing in the report suggests that Eva's exit from the sex trade was of recent vintage. According to her mother's statement, Eva had been dating Wilson for the past four years (27:22; D-App. 132), and there is no indication she was involved in prostitution during that time. Rather than supporting the inference of a recent split between Eva and Jabo, information in the police report establishing that Eva and Jabo's brother, Willie, were in a romantic relationship and visited Jabo's after-hours bar together suggests a more cordial relationship between Eva and Jabo had developed. Otherwise, why would she voluntarily frequent such an establishment if she thought the proprietor was intent on killing her?

Under this set of facts, the trial court correctly refused to allow Wilson to present evidence casting Jabo Friend as an alternate suspect. The only purported motive Jabo had to kill Eva was her desire to break free from him when he served as her pimp. *See* Wilson's brief at 21. But because there is no evidence to indicate that this motive existed near the time of her murder and not just six or more years earlier, Wilson did not – either at trial or eighteen years later when he filed his motion – satisfy *Denny*'s motive requirement with respect to Jabo Friend. Wilson's inability to forge a temporal connection between Eva's exit from the prostitution business and her murder is fatal to his *Denny* argument.

Finally, insofar as Wilson in a footnote denigrates the State's postconviction argument that the evidence in the police report was inadmissible on hearsay grounds (*see* Wilson's brief at 21), his contention that the statements of Clara and Deja Maric were admissible as excited utterances is nonsense. An excited utterance is a "statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition." Wis. Stat. § 908.03(2). The Marics' statements were made while they were still

under the stress of excitement caused by Eva's murder. Their statements, however, did not relate to that startling event but instead recounted the history between Eva and Jabo Friend. Accordingly, those statements do not qualify as excited utterances.

For all these reasons, the trial court correctly prevented Wilson from introducing *Denny* evidence with respect to Jabo Friend.

C. Wilson has failed to satisfy *Denny*'s opportunity requirement with respect to Willie Friend; alternatively, any error in excluding the *Denny* evidence was harmless.

The *Denny* analysis with respect to Willie Friend is different than it was for his brother. Willie was present at the shooting scene, so it would be disingenuous to argue that Wilson failed to show Willie's proximity to the murder. As for motive, the defense offered the testimony of Mary Lee Larson, a friend of the victim, who said that two weeks before the shooting, Willie threatened that if Eva didn't keep "in check," he would kill her (56:15-16). During the same time frame, Larson also saw Willie slap Eva (*id.*:16-17). This evidence arguably was sufficient to satisfy *Denny*'s motive requirement.

Where the evidence failed was on the opportunity prong of *Denny*. As the prosecutor argued, in light of the physical evidence and Carol Kidd-Edwards's testimony, Willie "did not have the opportunity to commit this homicide" (57:9). The physical evidence<sup>3</sup> supported Willie's testimony that he had exited the passenger side of the victim's car when Wilson got out of his car, armed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Unfortunately, by the time the record reached this court, all of the photographs and other exhibits had been destroyed. Accordingly, the State relies on the description of these exhibits furnished in the trial testimony.

with "a blue steel large revolver" (51:38), and started shooting at him, causing Willie to duck down on the passenger side of the opened door and start running (*id*.:39-40). Exhibits 3, 4, 14 and 15 depicted the bullet holes in the front passenger-side door of the victim's car (51:145-48), supporting Willie's testimony that he was shot at while ducking down behind the opened door. As Detective Dennis Kuchenreuther testified, the trajectory of the bullet strikes was consistent with the passenger door being open at the time shots were fired (*id*.:149).

Willie's testimony that he was still being shot at while running away (*see* 51:41) was also corroborated by exhibits 22, 23 and 24, showing bullet strikes in the concrete and in the dirt on either side of the sidewalk (51:154).

Willie's testimony was further corroborated by the testimony of eyewitness Carol Kidd-Edwards. As she was getting dressed for work, Kidd-Edwards heard "maybe five" consecutive gunshots ring out, causing her to take cover on her bedroom floor (51:97). When this set of shots stopped, she ran to her bedroom window and saw a man she identified as Willie Friend running from the car (id.:97-98); she saw no objects in Willie's hand while he was running (id.:100-01). After Willie had fled the scene, Kidd-Edwards saw another man approaching the car while loading a gun (id.:103). She saw the man go up to the driver's side of the victim's car and, from a distance of two feet, shoot five to seven rounds into the driver's side (id.:104-05). This observation was consistent with Willie's testimony that after he ran away, he heard "rapid shots back to the [sic] back" (id.:43). He believed the second set of shots came from a smaller gun than the first (id.:42) because the impact of the first shots was "much louder and heavier" (id.:43).

Expert testimony also was consistent with Willie's version of events. Firearams examiner Monty Lutz testified that two of the bullets recovered from the victim's body were fired from the same gun as the

jacketed bullet retrieved from the sidewalk area (53:58-59). This evidence is consistent with the same person killing Eva and shooting at Willie.

Additionally, the Milwaukee County medical examiner, Dr. Jeffrey Jentzen (53:100), testified that during the autopsy of Eva Maric, he recovered two large bullets and five smaller ones (*id*.:109). He opined that the larger caliber wounds were inflicted prior to the smaller caliber wounds (*id*.:113). This testimony is consistent with Willie's testimony that the first shots fired were from a larger weapon than the shots he heard after running away from the scene.

While Wilson in his brief suggests that the evidence was sufficient to show Willie had the opportunity to fire the large-caliber bullets into Eva (*see* Wilson's brief at 21-22, 23), trial counsel after hearing all of the evidence disavowed such a theory. Instead, during closing argument he told the jury that "Willie did not fire the shots" (58:71). Counsel theorized that Willie lured Eva to the shooting scene, where she was killed by two unknown people who drove by in a car (*id.*:71-72).

Even this theory is inconsistent with the physical evidence, however, because it fails to explain why the same person who shot Eva also fired shots at Willie.

The foregoing discussion establishes that the prosecutor was correct in arguing that the *Denny* evidence involving Willie Friend was insufficient to show opportunity. Or, as postconviction counsel for the State explained, the evidence was inadmissible because under the circumstances surrounding the murder, there was not a legitimate tendency that Willie could have committed it (*see* 36:7).

While the State submits that the trial court's ruling was correct, the State agrees with Wilson that some of the court's reasoning was not. For example, the trial court's apparent dislike of the *Denny* decision and its desire to

have the supreme court address the issue (*see* 57:12; D-App. 240) does not mean the court was free to disregard *Denny* or to wait for the supreme court to tackle the issue. But as this court is well aware, it can affirm the trial court's ruling even if it disagrees with that court's reasoning. *See State v. Holt*, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 124, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985) (if trial court reaches the right result for the wrong reason, it will be affirmed).

Regardless of how inelegantly the trial court expressed itself, exclusion of the *Denny* evidence potentially inculpating Willie Friend was correct. Alternatively, for some of the same reasons the evidence did not establish a legitimate tendency that Willie killed Eva, any error in its exclusion was harmless.

While Wilson does not specifically acknowledge this, the theory that Willie was responsible for murdering Eva would necessarily require the jury to believe that he also framed Wilson. This is because Willie testified that in the hours before the shooting, he and Eva saw Wilson's car – a gold Lincoln with a personalized plate that read "G-Ball" (51:23-24) – on numerous occasions, including at the shooting (*id*.:36). Willie also testified that at some point after Eva left him at his mother's house shortly before 2 a.m. (*id*.:30), she came to his brother's house and reported that Wilson had just tried to run her off the road (*id*.:32). According to Willie, "she said the dude walked up to the car, supposed to have had a revolver and told her

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Wilson's reliance on SCR 60.04(1)(g)(2) to suggest that Judge Manian violated the Judicial Code of Ethics in consulting with a fellow jurist without notifying the parties (*see* Wilson's brief at 29) is ill-advised. That provision took effect January 1, 1997, three-and-one-half years after Wilson's trial. *See* Sup. Ct. Order 95-05, found at 202 Wis. 2d xvii. The previous version of the Code did not contain such a provision. *See* Volume 2, Wis. Stat. (1967), Appendix at 20-22. But even if the cited provision had been in effect during Wilson's 1993 trial, it does not apply to Judge Manian's consultation with a fellow jurist, which is covered by SCR 60.04(1)(g)3. That provision, quoted in full in Wilson's brief at 28, does not require notice to the parties when a judge consults with another judge.

that if I see you and that nigger together again, I'm going to kill you" (*id.*). Willie, who had never met Wilson before the night Eva was killed (*id.*:50), picked him out of a lineup as the shooter (*id.*:48).

Had Wilson been permitted to introduce *Denny* evidence with respect to Willie Friend, that evidence would have been contradicted by the physical evidence. As the trial court noted, Willie's hands were swabbed right after the crime but tested negative (57:14; D-App. 242). The court also remarked on how the physical evidence at the crime scene showed Willie was not Eva's killer:

There were bullet fragments recovered in the door where – where he was sitting on the side where he was sitting, there were chips in the concrete and the dirt.

That confirmed that he was being shot at while he was running down the street, as he says, and there's a lady across the street [Carol Kidd-Edwards] that was looking out the window that confirms that he was running away when the shots were being fired.

(57:14-15; D-App. 242-43.) When defense counsel referred to the above evidence as "the State's interpretation," the court disagreed:

No, all I'm saying, that's the physical evidence, that's not an interpretation.

(*Id.*:15; D-App. 243.) While the above comments were made in the context of the trial court denying Wilson's request to present *Denny* evidence, they also serve to explain why any error in that ruling was harmless.

As the trial court remarked, the theory that Willie could have shot Eva fails to account for the physical evidence supporting his testimony that the person who killed Eva fired several shots at him. And even if appellate defense counsel switches gears and embraces

trial counsel's closing-argument theory that Willie just set up Eva but did not shoot her (*see* 58:71-72), that theory would fail to explain why one of his unnamed confederates tried to kill him.

The related but unstated theory that Willie framed Wilson does not lessen the impact of testimony from Carol Kidd-Edwards, whom trial counsel dubbed "the absolute truth teller" (58:83), that she saw a "gold toned Lincoln" departing the scene right after a gunman fired "a lot of shots" into the driver's side of the victim's car (51:105-06). While Wilson presented testimony from his sister Sandra establishing that she had observed other gold Lincoln Mark VII's in the general vicinity (*see* 53:174-180), it is highly unlikely the jury would have bought the theory that a different gold Lincoln than the one Wilson was driving that night was involved in Eva's murder.

The fact the proffered *Denny* evidence would have been contradicted by the physical evidence is not the only reason any error in excluding the former was harmless. Admission of any *Denny* evidence relating to Willie Friend would not have detracted from the fact Wilson repeatedly lied to police about his ownership of a .44 caliber weapon, the type of gun used to kill Eva Maric. The *Denny* evidence would not have diminished the impact of Wilson's belated admission at trial<sup>5</sup> that he did in fact own a .44 Smith and Wesson Magnum as recently as April 3, 1993 (55:56-57) and his eleventh-hour claim that he traded the gun for drugs and sex in Alabama on his way home from a vacation to Florida days before the shooting (*see id.*:57-60).

In light of the above evidence – and additional trial evidence not recounted here that points to Wilson as the killer of Eva Maric – any error in the exclusion of *Denny* evidence regarding Willie Friend was harmless.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> On cross-examination, the prosecutor elicited Wilson's admission that the first time he mentioned his ownership of the .44 was at trial (55:100).

II. WILSON IS NOT ENTITLED TO A
NEW TRIAL ON THE GROUND
THE STATE IMPROPERLY
INTRODUCED EVIDENCE OF HIS
GUN OWNERSHIP AND OTHER
ACTS.

Wilson next claims that he merits a new trial because the State "improperly introduced prejudicial evidence of gun ownership and other acts." Wilson's brief at 33. According to Wilson, the allegedly improper evidence was designed to further two of the State's theories: 1) Wilson was a man who owned and used guns; and 2) Wilson used violence, allegedly in domestic disturbances. *See id.* He asserts that "[t]he State's pursuit of both theories was highly prejudicial error." *Id.* 

Before addressing the specific questions Wilson deems improper, the State will debunk the notion that the prosecutor was the one who depicted Wilson as a man who owned and used guns. Contrary to Wilson's suggestion, the record reveals that defense counsel was the first to inject this information into the case. Specifically, defense counsel during his opening statement informed the jury of his client's familiarity with guns:

Grant is not only a drill sergeant, but he's an expert marksman, which is an important issue in this case. He was an expert marksman. He's very familiar with weapons and he owned a number of weapons, you're going to hear all that about Grant.

(50:24.)

The record shows the defense *wanted* the jury to know that Wilson was an expert marksman familiar with guns. This point is further illustrated by defense counsel's closing argument, in which he pointed out that because of Wilson's "expert marksmanship," he could have shot Willie if he wanted to (58:121). Because the defense tried to use Wilson's expert marksmanship to its advantage in defending the charge of attempted first-degree intentional

homicide, it is hypocritical for Wilson to claim on appeal that the prosecutor improperly provided this information to the jury. *See* Wilson's brief at 35-36 (accusing the prosecutor of portraying Wilson as someone with a propensity for using guns, by asking whether he was "an expert marksman" (55:107)).

Α. Wilson has forfeited the claim the prosecutor improperly asked him whether he called his .44 his "Dirty Harry" gun; Wilson's assertion that he moved for a mistrial based on this question misrepresents the record.

Wilson at pages 33-36 of his brief argues that the prosecutor improperly asked him whether he called his .44 his "Dirty Harry" gun; claims that he moved for a mistrial based on this questioning but that the prosecutor averted a mistrial by promising she would call Pedro Smith, Wilson's roommate, to testify; and asserts that the prosecutor broke her promise by calling Smith but not asking him if Wilson called this weapon his "Dirty Harry" gun.

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